Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

Intermountain Surgical, LLC, Petitioner / Appellant, vs. Whitney A. Nesbitt, Jacob C. Loveland, Ignacio Buenrostro, Ester Buenorostro, and Hon. Ryal I. Hansen Respondents / Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code sections 78A-4-103(1), 78A-4-103(2)(j), and Utah R. App. P. 19.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: Whether the District Court correctly interpreted and determined the relevancy and proportionality standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 26(b) with respect to discovery requests to a non-party to the litigation?

Standard of Review: This Court reviews the application and interpretation of a rule of procedure for correctness. *State v. Ashby*, 2015 UT App 169, ¶ 18, 357 P.3d 554.

Preservation: This issue was preserved in the District Court, see Order, attached as Addendum 1.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND RULES

(b) Discovery scope.

- (b)(1) In general. Parties may discover any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the claim or defense of any party if the discovery satisfies the standards of proportionality set forth below. Privileged matters that are not discoverable or admissible in any proceeding of any kind or character include all information in any form provided during and created specifically as part of a request for an investigation, the investigation, findings, or conclusions of peer review, care review, or quality assurance processes of any organization of health care providers as defined in the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act for the purpose of evaluating care provided to reduce morbidity and mortality or to improve the quality of medical care, or for the purpose of peer review of the ethics, competence, or professional conduct of any health care provider.
 - (b)(2) Proportionality. Discovery and discovery requests are proportional if:

(b)(2)(A) the discovery is reasonable, considering the needs of the case, the amount in controversy, the complexity of the case, the parties' resources, the importance of the issues, and the importance of the discovery in resolving the issues;

E

- (b)(2)(B) the likely benefits of the proposed discovery outweigh the burden or expense;
- (b)(2)(C) the discovery is consistent with the overall case management and will further the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of the case;
 - (b)(2)(D) the discovery is not unreasonably cumulative or duplicative;
- (b)(2)(E) the information cannot be obtained from another source that is more convenient, less burdensome or less expensive; and
- (b)(2)(F) the party seeking discovery has not had sufficient opportunity to obtain the information by discovery or otherwise, taking into account the parties' relative access to the information.
- (b)(3) Burden. The party seeking discovery always has the burden of showing proportionality and relevance. To ensure proportionality, the court may enter orders under Rule 37.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceeding, and disposition below

This petition arises from the District Court's denial of Petitioner Intermountain Surgical, LLC's ("Intermountain") motion for a protective order related to the discovery of confidential proprietary business information. (6/1/17 Order on Non-Party's Motion for Protective Order ("Order"), attached as addendum 1.)¹ This Order contradicts two other district court orders granting Intermountain a protective order over the same information. (3/8/17 Memo iso Motion for Protective Order ("Memo"), pp. iv-v.)

¹ The record from the District Court has not been forwarded to this Court for purposes of appeal. Counsel was directed by the Clerk of the Court to cite to the record by docket entry date and name of document.

Plaintiffs, Ignacio Buenrostro and Esther Buenrostro, brought this action against defendants Whitney Nesbitt and Jacob Loveland for personal injuries sustained in an auto accident. (3/30/16 Complaint.) Intermountain is not a party to this litigation. (*Id.*) Intermountain's involvement in the case was limited to providing estimates for surgeries contemplated by the Plaintiffs back in 2014. (Memo, p. ii.) Intermountain is aware that Dr. Kade T. Huntsman consulted with each of the Plaintiffs about future surgery in December of 2014. (*Id.*) Intermountain has not been involved with any treatment or surgeries that the Plaintiffs may have had since December 2014. Likewise, Intermountain has no lien or contract with the Plaintiffs. (*Id.*)

Ѡ

1

Under the guise of defending this lawsuit, Defendant's insurance carrier Farmers Insurance ("Farmers") directed its appointed attorneys to serve a 30(b)(6) notice to Intermountain, with the express intent of obtaining confidential proprietary, business information. (Memo at Ex. 1.) Intermountain moved the court for a protective order, arguing that the information sought was proprietary trade secrets and/or did not meet the proportionality test under Rule 26. (*Id.*, pp. 1-8.) The District Court denied Intermountain's motion and ordered that Intermountain produce various proprietary documents and 30(b)(6) testimony. *See* Order. Intermountain filed a petition for extraordinary relief from the District Court's order. The Court requested further briefing from the parties on Intermountain's petition.

FACTS

Background Facts

Intermountain is an entity that facilitates surgical treatment for patients who do not have health insurance. In so doing, Intermountain leases a surgical suite from Canyon Crest Surgical Center. Intermountain owns and maintains all of the surgical equipment used for these surgeries at its own expense. Intermountain is responsible for the acquisition and purchase of the surgical supplies, surgical implants and hardware used in these surgeries and does so through its own efforts via negotiation of contracted rates. (*See* Memo, pp. ii, 2-5; *id.* at Ex. 11, p. 3; *id.* at Ex. 23, pp. 12-14.)

In cases where Intermountain actually provides its services to patients, each of the surgeries performed include "professional fees" and "facilities fees." (Memo at Ex. 11 pp. 3-4; *id.* at Ex. 24 ¶¶ 7-8.) The professional fees are those charged by the medical professionals such as surgeons, anesthesiologists and physician's assistants. (*Id.* at Ex. 24, ¶¶ 6-8.) The medical professionals who provide medical services are independent contractors. (*Id.* at Ex. 11, p. 4.) There are several surgeons in the area who perform surgeries for Intermountain patients. These surgeons and other professionals bill Intermountain directly. Intermountain pays the medical professionals for the services rendered without reduction. Intermountain includes the fees paid for medical professional services in a statement that includes "CPT" codes. (*Id.*, at p. 2; *id* at Ex. 24, ¶¶ 6-8; *id.* at Ex. 23, pp. 12-13.) Intermountain charges the patient exactly what the medical professionals charge Intermountain, with no "up charge."

Intermountain is not a medical professional and therefore does not charge professional fees. However, Intermountain is a facilities provider and charges a facility fee. (*Id.*, Ex. 24 ¶¶ 7-8; *id.* at Ex. 23, pp. 12-13.) Intermountain's invoices to patients include facility fees and CPT codes that are similar to the facility fees charged by other facility providers. (*Id.*, p. 2.) These charges include the use of the surgical suite, equipment, surgical supplies and surgical implants/hardware used in these surgeries. (*Id.*, Ex. 24, ¶¶ 7-8, 11, 19; *id.* at Ex. 11, p. 3-4; *id.* at Ex. 17, p. 1.) Intermountain considers the pricing analysis it has performed and continues to perform to be proprietary trade secrets, research, development and commercial information, which if disclosed would prejudice its ongoing business efforts. (Memo, pp. 1-8.)

(ه)

(

When Intermountain provides services to patients, Intermountain and the patient enter into a lien agreement wherein Intermountain agrees to accept deferred payment of the charges for medical and facilities services until after a patient receives a recovery by way of settlement or verdict. However, even if there is no recovery, the patient is responsible for payment. (*Id.* at Ex. 11, p. 3.)

The foregoing is what occurs when Intermountain provides its services to patients. However, in this case Intermountain did not provide any services to the plaintiffs. (Memo, p. ii.) Intermountain has not paid any medical professionals or provided facilities services for either Plaintiff. (*Id.*) Intermountain did not enter into any contractual agreements with the plaintiffs and Intermountain has no lien rights. (*Id.*) Intermountain's only involvement in this case occurred in December of 2014. At that time, Intermountain was approached by Plaintiffs' counsel for a surgical referral. Intermountain provided Plaintiffs with a referral

to Dr. Huntsman, an orthopedic surgeon who practices at the Salt Lake Orthopedic Clinic. Plaintiffs presented to Dr. Huntsman at the Salt Lake Orthopedic Clinic on December 15, 2014, for a medical consultation. (*Id.*) Thereafter, on December 18, 2014, Plaintiffs' counsel asked Intermountain to provide estimates for what the costs would be if the Plaintiffs decided to undergo the surgeries recommended by Dr. Huntsman. As requested, Intermountain provided the estimates to Plaintiffs' counsel. These were simple estimates and did not include CPT codes that would normally be on an actual statement for services. (*Id.*, p. ii; *id.*, Ex. 2.) After December 18, 2014, Intermountain had no additional involvement with the Plaintiffs, their attorney or anyone else associated with the case until November 11, 2016, when Farmers served a subpoena upon Intermountain for the Plaintiffs' medical records. (*Id.*, p. ii.)

Petitioner responded to Farmers' subpoena in this case by producing the medical records it had with respect to the Plaintiffs. (Id. at Ex. 2.) These records consisted of Dr. Huntsman's report and the estimates of the costs of the recommended surgeries. (Id.) Thereafter, Farmers served a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition notice upon Intermountain. The Rule 30(b)(6) notice gave notice of an obvious attempt by Farmers to obtain confidential proprietary business information and processes including Intermountain's internal records and analysis of profit, overhead, studies and subscriptions purchased by Intermountain, analysis and processes developed by Intermountain, and other trade secrets. (See Order.) In addition, Farmers gave notice that it would require Intermountain to identify expert qualifications of its employees who would provide expert testimony in the instant case. (Id.)

After receiving Farmers' Rule 30(b)(6) deposition notice, Intermountain filed a Motion for Protective Order. (See Memo.) Intermountain argued that Farmers could not meet its burden of showing that the requested information was relevant and proportional pursuant to Rule 26(b) as amended in 2011. Additionally, Intermountain argued that the information was confidential proprietary business information, processes and trade secrets pursuant to Utah Code § 13-24-2. (Id.) Finally, Intermountain argued that it has not been designated as an expert and has already represented that it is not qualified as an expert. Intermountain has no intention of testifying as an expert in this, or any other litigation. (3/22/17 Reply Memo in Support of Protective Order, p. 8.)

Despite the fact that Intermountain did not provide services to the Plaintiffs, did not have a contract/lien agreement with the Plaintiffs, and had only provided a referral and estimates to the Plaintiffs, Farmers argued that "[b]ecause Petitioner will obtain a lien on the [Plaintiffs'] recovery in this litigation to finance the surgery proposed by Dr. Huntsman it has a strong incentive or bias to testify that the charges are reasonable and customary." (See 3/15/17 Defense Memorandum in Response to Intermountain Surgical Motion for Protective Order, p. 11.) In other words, even though the Plaintiffs have not had surgery, because they might have surgery sometime in the future, it argued Intermountain might be the provider. Based upon this non-existent hypothetical scenario, Farmers claimed entitlement to unprecedented access to Intermountain's confidential proprietary business information, processes and trade secrets.

After the May 9, 2017, telephonic hearing on Intermountain's Motion for Protective Order, the District Court granted Farmers' request and required Intermountain to produce its confidential proprietary business information, processes and trade secrets. (*See* Order.)

This is not the first time that liability carriers have attempted to obtain Intermountain's confidential data, but it is the first time that a court has interpreted Rule 26 to require its production. In Vigueras-Amezcua v. Shoeman, Farmers attempted to obtain substantially the same information. Intermountain filed a Motion for Protective Order, which was heard by Judge Bates on December 8, 2016. In his January 11, 2017, order, Judge Bates significantly limited the scope of Farmers' inquiry and entered a strict Protective Order. See Decision and Order, Vigueras-Amezcua v. Shoeman, No. 160903969 (January 11, 2017), attached as addendum 2, and Protective Order, Vigueras-Amezcua v. Shoeman, No. 160903969 (January 16, 2017), attached as addendum 3. Prior to the Vigueras-Amezcua case, Intermountain had a similar experience with another liability insurance company in Salisbury v. The Living Planet. In Salisbury, Judge Scott granted Petitioner's Motion for Protective Order. See Intermountain Surgical's Order Granting Motion for Protective Order, Salisbury v. The Living Planet, No. 130905519 (December 14, 2015), attached as addendum 4. In this case, the District Court diverged from the interpretations of Judge Bates and Judge Scott and granted Farmers unprecedented and expansive access to Intermountain's confidential proprietary business information, processes and trade secrets. (See Order.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

(4)

(de)

A protective order is necessary to prevent Farmers' ongoing disproportionate discovery requests aimed at obtaining irrelevant, confidential, proprietary and protected information from Intermountain. Under Rule 26(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, before a discovery request is initiated, the matters sought must be: (1) relevant to a "claim or defense" and (2) proportional to the needs of the case. In this case, the District Court failed to properly apply Rule 26.

First, Rule 26 requires that discovery be relevant to a "claim or defense." Farmers argued its request was relevant to Plaintiffs' future medical expenses. Under Utah law, future medical expenses are determined by the price that those services sell for in the marketplace. However, instead of analyzing whether Farmers' discovery request was relevant to determining the reasonable value of Plaintiffs' medical expenses, the District Court analyzed the relevancy of the discovery as pertains to questions that are not even at issue in this case.

Second, Rule 26 requires the request to be proportional to the needs of the case. This element analyzes whether the information sought is important to a parties' claim or defense, and whether the same or similar information can be obtained from another source. As stated above, Farmers claims to need information from Intermountain to determine/dispute the reasonable value of Plaintiffs' future surgical expenses. However, the information that Farmers seeks (including, among other things, Intermountain's profit-margins, contracts, business model, etc.) is not important to determining the reasonable value of future medical expenses and Farmers admits its expert can testify

regarding the value and necessity of those expenses. In this case, the District Court did not analyze whether the information requested is important to calculating Plaintiffs' future surgical expenses. Nor did it analyze whether Farmers could obtain information regarding the value and necessity of future surgical expenses from another source. Instead, the District Court appeared to analyze whether Intermountain's proprietary information could be, without great burden, obtained from another source. That analysis is error on its face. If that were the test, proprietary information would always be discoverable.

Applying the correct legal analysis, the information that Farmers requested, and that the District Court ordered to be produced, was not discoverable under Rule 26. Intermountain therefore requests that the District Court's Order be reversed and that it be directed to grant Intermountain's motion for a protective order.

ARGUMENT

I. The Information Farmers Seeks is Irrelevant and Disproportional to the Needs of the Personal Injury Action.

Farmers subpoena request to Intermountain seeks information that is irrelevant and disproportional to the determination of the Plaintiffs' future medical damages. "It is well established that the scope of discovery under a subpoena is the same as the scope of discovery under Rule 26(b)." XPO Logistics Freight, Inc. v. YRC, Inc., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165323, *10, 2016 WL 6996275; see also Utah R. Civ. P. 45 Advisory Committee Notes (equating a subpoena to discovery). Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure outlines the scope of permissible discovery. Under this rule, "[p]arties

may discover any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the claim or defense of any party if the discovery satisfies the standards of proportionality." Utah R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1). Thus, to be discoverable under Utah R. Civ. P. 26, the information sought must be (1) relevant to any party's "claim or defense" and (2) proportional to the needs of the case. The Rule further provides that "the party seeking discovery always has the burden of showing proportionality and relevance." Utah R. Civ. P. 26(b)(3). In this case, the District Court misapplied the test set forth in Rule 26. The information sought by Farmers is neither relevant nor proportional to the needs of the parties in this case.

A. The District Court erred in its application of Rule 26 when it failed to analyze the relevancy of Farmers' subpoena request as relates to the parties' claims and defenses.

The district court abused its discretion because it failed to properly determine whether the information sought by Farmers was relevant to any "claim or defense" set forth in this case. Utah R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1). Relevant evidence is evidence that "has any tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence; and the fact is of consequence of determining the action." Utah R. Evid. 401. The only claim asserted by Plaintiffs against Defendant is for negligence. (*See* Complaint.) The elements of negligence are well known: duty, breach causation, and damages. *Rose v. Provo City*, 2003 UT App 77, ¶ 7, 67 P.3d 1017.

Farmers argued that the discovery it seeks is relevant to the issue of damages (i.e, the amount and necessity of Plaintiffs' future surgeries). However, Farmers did not demonstrate below and the District Court did not analyze how Intermountain's business information (including, among other things profit margins, contracts, costs, risk

assessment, and business/plans) is relevant to determining the reasonable amount of the Plaintiffs' future surgical expenses. *See, e.g., Chatterton v. Walker*, 938 P.2d 255 (Utah 1997) (reversing district court's decision regarding protective order when court failed to properly analyze whether the information sought was pertinent to the actual issue in the case.)

Under Utah law, the reasonableness of a plaintiff's medical expenses is determined by the price those services sell for in the marketplace as demonstrated by comparing the prices of what other providers charge for the same services in the community. This determination is not made based on a specific provider's profit margin, contracts, overhead, lease payments, rent, etc. *See, e.g., Jones v. Mackey Price Thompson & Ostler*, 2015 UT 60, ¶ 58, 355 P.3d 1000 (holding that, in cases of professional services, the reasonable value of those services normally equates to the market value of those services); *Express Recovery Servs. v. Reuling*, 2015 UT App 299, ¶¶ 14-15, 364 P.3d 766 (the proper measure of damages for professional services is the reasonable value of those services in the marketplace).

Other jurisdictions similarly hold that the value of medical services is determined based upon the price those services sell for in the relevant community. See Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. Talford, 727 S.E.2d 866, 870 (N.C. 2012) ("[I]t is appropriate when determining what a service is 'reasonably worth' to look to 'the time and labor expended, skill, knowledge and experience involved, and other attendant circumstances, rather than . . . the benefit to the person for whom the services are rendered. Those 'other attendant circumstances' include the rates charged by similar

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