# Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

Intermountain Surgical, LLC, Petitioner / Appellant, vs. Whitney A. Nesbitt, Jacob C. Loveland, Ignacio Buenrostro, Ester Buenorostro, and Hon. Ryal I. Hansen Respondents / Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals

### INTRODUCTION

IMS is a "financial services company<sup>1</sup>" in the loosest sense of the term. It invests in litigation claims by paying for surgeries it arranges for plaintiffs who have claims in litigation and charges them a substantial premium. Before investing in the claims of its clients, IMS investigates the merits of the claim including evaluating liability, determining the existence of liability insurance and obtaining a medical opinion from a doctor it has under contract to support medical causation and necessity for surgery. IMS not only finances the surgeries, it contracts with a doctor to perform the surgery at a location determined by IMS so that it can control the costs. The premium IMS charges to finance these surgeries is described by it as an amount which reflects "the nature and value of the financial services provided to Client, including risk of capital loss and similar exposure undertaken by [IMS] on behalf of Client."<sup>2</sup> IMS primarily uses one orthopedic surgeon for this purpose and pays the surgeon handsomely and repeatedly for these evaluations and surgeries. IMS's finance charge for arranging for the surgery and paying for it is secured by a lien on any "judgment, settlement or verdict" the client recovers in their "claim for bodily injury damages"<sup>3</sup>.

۲

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 1

۲

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>"Financial services company" is the term IMS uses to describe itself in the disclosure it provides to its clients. (*See* Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief, at NESBITT 0036)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>IMS Disclosure of Financial Services. Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief, at NESBITT 0036.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>IMS Service Provider Lien and Authorization at NESBITT 0036, in Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief.

The reason IMS should be subject to discovery is because its finance charge is cleverly disguised as a medical bill by its use of CPT codes and medical terminology. Its clients, the plaintiffs in litigation, use IMS's charges, or estimates in this case, as evidence of their economic loss for past or future medical expenses. Because the finance charge is two or more times the reasonable and customary charge for the medical services IMS finances, the use of the IMS client invoice/estimate by plaintiffs as proof of the reasonable and necessary medical expenses incurred raises questions about the legitimacy of the IMS client invoice/estimate and customary medical expense for the surgery. In addition, the way plaintiffs and the IMS contract surgeon are introduced together with the mutually beneficial relationship between the surgeon and IMS, raises questions about the objectivity of the surgeon's surgery recommendations.

This is a Tier 3 case arising from a low speed and minimal property damage three vehicle accident which occurred on June 27, 2011. After three and half years, Ignacio had incurred approximately \$11,000 in medical expenses to treat what he claimed were injuries suffered in the June 27, 2011 accident. His wife, Esther, had incurred approximately \$12,000 in medical expenses over the same period of time to treat what she claimed were injuries suffered in the June 27, 2011 accident<sup>4</sup>. In December 2014, their lawyer referred both Ignacio and Esther to IMS which arranged for a medical evaluation by its contract doctor,

6

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See Plaintiff's Rule 26 Initial Disclosures dated May 16, 2016 at NESBITT 0012 -13 in Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief.

Dr. Kade T. Huntsman, who saw both Ignacio and Esther once on December 15, 2014. After this one examination, Dr. Huntsman recommended multiple level cervical fusion surgeries for both Ignacio and Esther and opined in his report that the "need for surgery is due to the motor vehicle accident." Three days later on December 18, 2014, IMS provided a statement, on its Intermountain Surgical letterhead, to Ignacio advising him that it estimated the cost of the surgery Dr. Huntsman recommended for him to be \$75,000. On the same date IMS provided a statement, on its Intermountain Surgical letterhead, to Esther advising her that it estimated the cost of the surgery Dr. Huntsman recommend for her to be \$65,000. Although Dr. Huntsman told both Ignacio and Esther that they needed the surgery "as soon as possible" due to the nature of their conditions, neither went under the knife immediately and neither has had the surgery as of this date, nearly six and a half years after the June 27, 2011 accident. However, both Ignacio and Esther have used the surgical estimates as part of the computation of damages contained in their Rule 26 Initial Disclosures<sup>5</sup> and have hired Dr. Huntsman as their "retained expert" to provide a causation opinion to support their claim that the surgeries are necessary because of the auto accident at issue and to support their claim

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 3

٨

٨

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See Plaintiff's Rule 26 Initial Disclosures dated May 16, 2016 at NESBITT 0012 -13 in Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief.

that the surgical cost estimates from IMS are the reasonable and customary charges for the surgeries they ardently believe they need because Dr. Huntsman recommended it<sup>6</sup>.

If the jury believes that the Buenrostros require expensive, risky and complicated spinal surgeries as a result of the relatively minor auto accident in which they were involved on June 27, 2011, the potential financial exposure from a verdict for damages increased significantly because of the involvement of IMS in this case. It is not only relevant, but logical, to question (1) the business model/plan of IMS to determine if it has acted as a medical facilities provider or as a finance company in this case; (2) the factual foundation for the estimated costs of surgery provided to the Plaintiffs by IMS to determine if the estimate represents reasonable and customary medical expenses or collateral source evidence about how the Buenrostros intend to pay for their medical expenses; and (3) the contractual and financial relationship between IMS and Dr. Huntsman who provided causation opinions and surgical recommendations at the request of IMS and who has been designated as a "retained expert" by the Buenrostros to testify concerning causation, surgical necessity and reasonable and customary charges for the medical treatment he recommended.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>7</sup>2017-06-01, Order on Non-Party's Motion for Protective Order. BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 4 6

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See Plaintiff's Expert Disclosures dated April 18, 2017 at NESBITT 0016 - 0019 and Dr. Huntsman's expert witness reports dated January 12, 2017 at NESBITT 0032 - 0033 (Esther) and dated April 20, 2017 at NESBITT 0030 - 0031 (Ignacio) in Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief.

The discovery ordered by Judge Hansen is relevant to the claims and defenses at issue in this case and is proportional to the significant involvement of IMS in the development and presentation of Buenrostros' damage claims. The Petition for Extraordinary Relief by IMS should be denied and Judge Hansen's Order should be enforced. Even though this Court has requested full briefing of the issues raised by IMS, the question to be determined before considering the merits of the discovery order of May 31, 2017 is whether a petition for extraordinary relief is appropriate based on what IMS has developed at the hearing on its Protection Order and in its Brief.

The determination of relevance and proportionality is a matter entrusted to the sound discretion of the trial court. Judge Hansen's reasoning has not been shown to be wrong, let alone an egregious abuse of discretion. There is no significant legal issue identified by IMS in its Brief. Judge Hansen's Order requires IMS to submit to a well defined and discrete inquiry into its business practices to determine whether the "surgical estimate" it provided to the Buenrostros is a collateral source and whether Dr. Huntsman is so inextricably connected to IMS as to be subject to impeachment for bias. Any testimony and documents IMS provides in response to Judge Hansen's Order are insulated from disclosure outside of this litigation by what amounts to an "attorney eyes only" protective order which prohibits the disclosure of the information to anyone other than the attorneys representing the parties to this litigation and limits the use of the information to this case only. IMS cannot show irreparable harm under these circumstances. Therefore, IMS is not entitled to an extraordinary writ in this case.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 5

٨

٢

U)

Ś

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

IMS identifies a single issue for review, namely "Whether the District Court correctly interpreted and determined the relevancy and proportionality standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 26(b) with respect to discovery requests to a non-party to the litigation?"

IMS misstates the standard of review for the issue it identifies. Nesbitt submits that the correct standard of appellate review of Judge Hansen's discovery order is abuse of discretion. This Court recently had the opportunity to address this very issue in *RJW Media Inc. v. Heath*, 2017 UT App 34, ¶ 18, 392 P.3d 956, 960 where it explained:

While interpretations of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are questions of law reviewed for correctness, *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303, ¶7, 141 P.3d 629, "we grant district courts a great deal of deference in matters of discovery and review discovery orders for abuse of discretion," *Dahl v. Dahl*, 2015 UT 79, ¶ 63. "Accordingly, we 'will not find abuse of discretion absent an erroneous conclusion of law or where there is no evidentiary basis for the trial court's ruling.' " *Id.* (quoting *Green v. Louder*, 2001 UT 62, ¶ 37, 29 P.3d 638).

See also *Williams v. Anderson*, 2017 UT App 91, ¶ 13 (While we afford trial courts broad discretion in discovery matters, we review the interpretation of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for correctness). The issue presented by IMS does not involve "interpretation" of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure but only a discovery issue, the review of which should be determined using an abuse of discretion standard.

IMS ignores the real issue which must first be determined, namely whether extraordinary relief is appropriate under the facts and circumstances of this case. The standard for review of a Petition for Extraordinary Relief is identified in *Snow*, *Christensen* 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 6

٢

6

6.

& Martineau v. Lindberg, 2013 UT 15, ¶22, 299 P.3d 1058, 1065 where the Supreme Court of Utah held:

The question of whether to grant a petition for extraordinary relief lies within the sound discretion of this court. *Id.* When considering whether to grant a petition, we may consider a variety of factors such as "the egregiousness of the alleged error, the significance of the legal issue presented by the petition, the severity of the consequences occasioned by the alleged error, and additional factors." *Id.* ¶ But these factors are neither controlling nor do they wholly measure the extent of our discretion. *Id.* 

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

IMS is not licensed to provide medical services or medical facilities. IMS states specifically in its Disclosure of Financial Services that it "is a financial services company, and not a healthcare provider or medical services provider."<sup>8</sup> Therefore, when IMS refers to itself as a "facilities provider"<sup>9</sup> and attempts to suggest that its charges are "similar to the facility fees charged by other facility providers"<sup>10</sup> in its Brief, one must question the accuracy of such claims. "Medical facility provider" is not a term of art used in the Health Care Facility Licensing and Inspection Act, Title 26, Chapter 21, Utah Code. Therefore, IMS's self identification as a "facilities provider" is nothing more than a play on words to create the impression that it is something more or different than what it is.

IMS also attempts to give itself credibility by claiming that because it uses "CPT

٢

Ŵ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See IMS Disclosure of Financial Services contained in the Addendum to Response of Nesbitt to Intermountain Surgical's Petition for Writ of Extraordinary Relief, at NESBITT 0036.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Brief of Petitioner/Appellant, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Brief of Petitioner/Appellant, p. 8. BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 7

codes" in its invoices it is similar to "other facility providers."<sup>11</sup> IMS did not immediately identify who these "other facility providers" are in its Brief, but instead delayed until page 16 of the Brief of Petitioner/Appellant to suggest that it is like "IHC, St. Marks/Mountain Star, IASIS, University of Utah Hospital, as well as other outpatient surgical centers."<sup>12</sup> According to the American Medical Association, the AMA holds the copyright in CPT (Current Procedural Terminology) and the use or reprinting of CPT in any product or publication requires a license. Hospitals, ambulatory clinics, physician groups and other organizations involved in care delivery use CPT codes to report medical, surgical, and diagnostic procedures and services to entities such as health insurance companies. Until IMS submits to a 30(b)(6) deposition one cannot say with certainty whether IMS has a license to use CPT codes in its invoices, but it is doubtful because IMS is not involved in care delivery and is not a licensed health care facility<sup>13</sup> in the state of Utah.

IMS is a financial services company only in the sense that it invests in litigation by financing surgeries in exchange for liens on the settlements, verdicts and judgments of its clients who are plaintiffs in litigation. It markets itself to plaintiff firms. It carefully investigates the cases it finances. Alan McDonald, the chief executive officer of IMS, 0

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Brief of Petitioner/Appellant, p. 8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Brief of Petitioner/Appellant, p. 16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>"Health care facility" means general acute hospitals, specialty hospitals, home health agencies, hospices, nursing care facilities, residential-assisted living facilities, birthing centers, ambulatory surgical facilities, small health care facilities, abortion clinics, facilities owned or operated by health maintenance organizations, end stage renal disease facilities, and any other health care facility which the committee designates by rule. Utah Code § 26-21-2. BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 8

testified in a 30(b)(6) deposition in the Vigueras case identified in the Addendum to the Brief

of Petitioner/Appellant about the investigation it conducts:

11 Q. Does Intermountain Surgical vet these
12 referrals, or does it take everyone that's referred?
13 A. Yeah. We vet the referrals.
14 Q. In what way?
15 A. We ask the attorney about the underlying -16 it's basically an intake process. In other words, we'll
17 ask the attorney about the underlying case, what
18 happened, what are the facts, and basically is there
19 insurance, ultimately, on the other end of this thing,
20 whether it's uninsured, underinsured, or bodily injury
21 coverage by a tortfeasor, and if the answer to those
22 questions is satisfactory, then we will go ahead and
23 green light a consult with one of the physicians that we
24 work with, that we contract with.

Alan T. McDonald Deposition, pp. 9 - 10

IMS chooses the doctors who perform the surgeries on its clients and the facilities

where the surgeries are performed. It rewards the medical professionals by paying their full

non-discounted or barely discounted fee. In this case, Dr. Kade T. Huntsman testified about

his billing protocol with IMS:

24 Q. When you do these surgeries for IMS, do you25 discount your fee at all?1 A. Slightly.

\* \* \*

19 Q. Do you know whether the discount to IMS is a
20 greater discount or a smaller discount than what you give
21 to Blue Cross, Aetna, or Cigna?
22 MR. KELSON: Same objections.
23 THE WITNESS: I would make the assumption that
24 it's less, but I would have to actually look at the
25 amounts.
Dr. Kade T. Huntsman Deposition, pp. 36 - 37

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE NESBITT - Page 9

۲

IMS makes a substantial profit for its investment, approximately 2 - 3 times its monetary outlay for a surgery, in exchange for assuming the "risk of capital loss and similar exposure"<sup>14</sup> on its investment. It is a very profitable business model, but it is the business model of an financier, not a medical services or medical facilities provider.

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